## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1925

**Integrated Health Care Services, Inc.**; Rikad Properties, Inc., authorized to operate Integrated Health Services of St. Petersburg; Bon Secours Health System, Inc., Bon Secours Maria Manor Nursing Center, a/k/a Bon Secours Maria Manor Nursing Care Center a/k/a Bon Secours Maria Manor Nursing Care Facility,

**CASE NO: SC01-792** 

L.T. Case No: 2D00-2905

Petitioners/Defendants,

v.

The Estate of Albert W. Redway, by and through Pauline Lang-Redway, **Personal Representative** 

Respondent/Plaintiff.

### PETITION TO INVOKE THE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

Initial Brief of Petitioner

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Second District Court of Appeals, in deciding this issue in the Respondent's favor below, expressly certified the following issue to this court:

If a plaintiff files a lawsuit seeking to enforce only those rights enumerated in section 400.022, Florida Statutes, must the plaintiff comply with the present conditions in section 766.106?

Integrated Health Care Services, Inc. v. Lang-Redway, 26 Fla. L Weekly D699 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA, March 9<sup>th</sup> 2001). It is significant to note, however, in this Court's consideration of the wording of this certified question, that the Complaint in question actually contained both statutory claims under Chapter 400 and common law negligence claims.

Pursuant to Article 5 §3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(2)(A) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure - and in light of the certification of the question raised herein by the Second District Court of Appeals - Petitioner, by and through the undersigned Counsel, respectfully petitions this Court to invoke its Discretionary Jurisdiction over this matter, and answer the certified question in the *affirmative*.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before this Court on a certified question - to determine whether the presuit requirements of Chapter 766 are mandated when allegations of medical negligence (e.g., allegations that professional nurse employees failed to render adequate and appropriate medical care) are alleged (as opposed to giving "notice" under §400.023(4) through the service of the Complaint with an attached affidavit).

The Respondent's Complaint sounded in both statutory claims under Chapter 400 alleging deprivation of Mr. Redway's "resident's rights" under §400.022, Florida Statutes (1997), and common law negligence (Wrongful Death, Negligent Survival) claims, (A. 1). The allegations all sound in medical negligence - namely, the failure of the Petitioner and its Nurses/Employees to provide Mr. Redway with adequate medical care, treatment and services, and particularly so with regard to Mr. Redway's pressure sores and upper respiratory infection. *Id.* More specifically, the Complaint makes the following factual allegations:

- a) Failing to adequately assure that ALBERT W. REDWAY received adequate and appropriate health care;
- b) Failing to properly provide a program for the prevention of pressure sores and the treatment of such sores after they have occurred;
- c) Failing to properly assess ALBERT W. REDWAY for the risk of development of pressure sores;

- d) Failing to properly recognize the development of pressure sores on ALBERT W. REDWAY and failing to obtain treatment for prevention of the worsening of such pressure sores;
- e) Failing to protect ALBERT W. REDWAY from foreseeable harm, including but not limited to the development of pressure sores;
- f) Failing to properly assess ALBERT W. REDWAY for the risk of falling;
- g) Failing to adequately monitor the nutritional intake of ALBERT W. REDWAY and appropriately treat him;
- h) Failing to monitor significant signs and symptoms of infection of ALBERT W. REDWAY, such as Upper Respiratory Infections;
- i) Failing to provide therapeutic and rehabilitative services to maintain ALBERT W. REDWAY'S mobility and range of motion.

*Id.* at 22-25, ¶81, 20-27, ¶95, 32-34, ¶111).

On March 7, 2000, the Nursing Home moved to dismiss the Respondent's Complaint on several different grounds, including the Respondent's failure to comply in good faith with the statutory pre-suit notice requirements for bringing a medical malpractice action under Chapter 766. (A. 2).

The Notice of Intent was originally sent to the Nursing Home on November 15, 1999. (A. 3). The Notice stated, in pertinent part:

This notice is being sent in contemplation of the possibility that there may eventually be a decision by an appellate court that some of the

claims of the Estate of Albert W. Redway against Bon Secours Maria Manor Nursing Center, which are outside of Florida Statutes Chapter 400, constitute medical negligence.

Notwithstanding the sending of this notice, it is our client's contention: (1) that the conduct of the nursing home licensee is not subject to provisions of Chapter 766; (2) that the actions of the nursing home do not constitute medical negligence as defined by Chapter 766; and (3) that a nursing home is not a health care provider. Nevertheless, because it may be determined that Chapter 766 does apply in some fashion to claims such as this arising out of nursing homes, this notice is being sent to preserve and protect the rights of the Estate of Albert Redway.

Id.

The Nursing Home responded to the notice by serving discovery requests pursuant to §766.106, Florida Statutes (1997). The Respondent however, failed to respond to the discovery requests within the statutory time frame, refused to sign authorizations to enable the Petitioner to obtain non-party records during the pre-suit investigation period, refused to provide a settlement demand during the pre-suit discovery period, and did not provide the Petitioner with any notice of her intention to pursue punitive damages during the pre-suit discovery period. On February 14, 1999, the Nursing Home denied the Notice of Intent, reserving its objections to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This Petition involves the construction of a number of Florida Statutes, some of which have been recently amended by the State Legislature, but only the "1997" revisions of the statutes in question are at issue.

Respondent's failure to comply with the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766, Florida Statutes (1997). (A. 4).

In support of a contemplated motion for determination to be filed pursuant to §766.206(1) in which it intended to demonstrate that the presuit was not conducted in good faith, the Nursing Home also attempted to depose the Respondent's purported expert, Elaine Runnals, RN, whose affidavit was attached to both Respondent's Notice of Intent to initiate litigation pursuant to Chapter 766, and to Respondent's Complaint. (A. 1, 3). The Respondent moved for a protective order to prevent the deposition. (A. 5). The Honorable Judge David Seth Walker, sitting for Judge Quesada, heard the motion for protective order on May 9, 2000. (A. 6). The Petitioner maintained that it was necessary to take Ms. Runnals' deposition in order to prove that Respondent had not complied in good faith with the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766. Judge Walker apparently did not address these arguments, instead issuing the Protective Order because he believed that the medical malpractice pre-suit requirements were "unconstitutional." (A. 7).

In the argument at the hearing on its Motion to Dismiss, Petitioner maintained that a good portion of Respondent's claims in the statutory and common law actions constituted "medical negligence" (e.g., the allegations relating to the failure to provide

adequate medical care and to properly treat the Respondent's pressure sores) and that the Complaint should thus be dismissed due to the Respondent's failure to comply with the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766. The Trial Court, however - insisting that it had to stay consistent with its rulings on this issue in other cases - ruled that the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766 do not have to be met in nursing - home cases like the one at bar, and thus denied the Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike. (A. 8 pp. 29-30). Judge Quesada made no distinction between statutory actions based on a violation of resident's rights and those based on common law negligence actions.

On June 23, 2000, the Trial Court entered an Order which denied the Nursing Home's Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike, and ruled that the personal representative of the estate of a nursing home resident does not have to meet the Section 766.106 pre-suit requirements for medical malpractice *under any circumstances*. (A. 9).

The Nursing Home filed a Writ of *Certiorari* in the Second District Court of Appeals, and after requesting supplemental briefing on the issue of whether the term "health care provider" should be defined using the definition set forth in §768.50(2)(b), the Second District held that Respondent was not required to comply with Chapter 766. *Integrated Health Care Services, Inc., v. Redway,* 26 Fla. L. Weekly D699 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA, March 9, 2001). While the Complaint in the instant case contained separate counts under Chapter 400 and common law negligence (Wrongful

Death and Negligent Survival claims), the Court certified the question as to whether a party filing an action only seeking enforcement of violations of rights under Chapter 400 was required to comply with Chapter 766.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The purpose of the medical malpractice statute is to promote the settlement of meritorious medical malpractice claims at an early stage so as to avoid the advent of a full blown adversarial hearing. In conjunction with this, the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766 compel claimants in cases arising out of medical care or treatment to conduct reasonable and diligent inquiry into the merit of their claims and put potential defendants - whoever they may be - on notice of claimant's intent to initiate such litigation. A Nursing Home Facility which employs state-licensed nurses and other "health care providers" to provide medical care and services to its residents, should be entitled to the statutory protections found in the Medical Malpractice Reform Act when it is named as a defendant in such a suit.

The Petitioner respectfully submits that a claimant who styles her action as if it was being brought under Chapter 400 and general negligence principles - when in fact the action is grounded upon factual allegations involving the rendering of medical care by a licensed health care provider - ostensibly establishes a claim for "medical"

malpractice," and then must comply with the pre-suit requirements found in Chapter 766. In the instant case, the allegations which constitute "medical malpractice" are not only found in Respondent's two Chapter 400 claims, but also in her Wrongful Death and Negligence Survival Claims.

The Respondent correctly asserts that a Nursing Home Facility is not specifically defined as a "health care provider" under §766.102, but inaccurately concludes from that premise that she does not have to comply with the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766 in any case in which a nursing home is a defendant. This argument has been considered and rejected by a number of courts, including this Court, which have found that compliance with Chapter 766 is mandatory where there are claims of medical negligence of a health care provider or where there are allegations of vicarious liability for the acts of professional nurse employees. There is no real "presuit" notice in Chapter 400 - the first "notice" required under §400.023(4) is with the service of the Complaint.

Requiring claimants - like the Respondent here - to comply with Chapter 766 will not unreasonably limit or deny such claimants access to the courts, and in fact, will work to prevent and discourage Chapter 400 claimants from shrouding medical malpractice claims into simple common law/statutory claims, just to be able to circumvent pre-suit requirements found in Chapter 766. Here, the gravamen of

Respondent's Complaint is found in the Petitioner's failure to provide adequate medical care. As such, the notice requirements of Chapter 766 should be applicable to all her claims that either involve medical negligence or otherwise seek to scrutinize the professional judgment or attention provided by a health care provider. This is especially true in the Counts in her Complaint which are not based on a violation of the resident's rights found in §400.022 and brought under the civil remedy provisions of §400.023, but which are in fact based on a common law negligence theory arising from the actions of statutory health care providers (e.g., professional nurse employees who are statutory health care providers).

Additionally, the new, quite specific and detailed changes in the statute on this issue certainly support that the "notice" requirement originally set forth in §400.023(4) was not intended to supplant the presuit notice requirements of Chapter 766 in cases involving medical negligence and/or vicarious liability.

Finally, this Court should apply the plain language of Fla. Stat. 766.106(2) which quite specifically requires "notice" be given in all cases involving medical negligence - including those involving health care providers. This Court should review and/or expand upon its holding in *Weinstock v. Groth*, 629 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1993), finding that all prospective medical malpractice defendants - including "health

care providers" - must be given the proper notice as set forth in Chapter 766. Indeed, the Legislature's use of the words "and if" in the Statute specifically contemplate two different factual situations: one in which the medical malpractice defendant is a "health care provider" licensed under the referenced authorities; and one in which a prospective medical malpractice defendant is <u>not</u> licensed.

Thus, defendants such as the Nursing Home here are entitled to the protections of Chapter 766, and compliance is appropriate and logical in light of the statute and applicable case law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Home's argument here is quite simple. In her Complaint, the Respondent alleges that the Home's professional nurse employees deviated from the prevailing professional standard of care in providing medical care or treatment which establishes a "claim for medical malpractice," as that term is defined by §766.106(2) Florida Statutes (1997). To describe this alleged failure in both the statutory and common law actions as a failure to provide "adequate and appropriate health care" does not render the presuit provisions of Chapter 766 or the underlying policies inapplicable. As a result, the Respondent *should* have been required to comply with the pre-suit

requirements of Chapter 766, and the Trial Court *should* have dismissed the Respondent's action for lack of jurisdiction.<sup>2</sup>

I. A PLAINTIFF WHO ASSERTS A CLAIM UNDER §400.023(1) OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES AND SETS FORTH FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS WHICH ESTABLISH A CLAIM FOR MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE MUST COMPLY WITH THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 766, WHICH GOVERNS PRESUIT PROCEDURES IN ALL SUCH DIRECT OR VICARIOUS CLAIMS.

Courts in Florida have quite uniformly found that the primary purpose of Chapter 766 is to "promote the settlement of meritorious claims at an early stage without the necessity of a full adversarial proceeding." *Cohen v. Dauphinee*, 739 So. 2d 68, 71 (Fla.1999). As the Fifth District stated in *Pavolini v. Bird*, 769 So.2d 410 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000):

[A]ll of the pre-suit requirements [of Chapter 766] have at least two purposes. The first is to force the claimant to conduct an investigation of the suspected malpractice and the defenses which may be asserted. The burden is on the medical malpractice claimant to make a "reasonable investigation" to determine that there are grounds for a good faith belief that there has been negligence. The second purpose is evaluation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In *Berry v. Orr*, 537 So.2d 1014(Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1989), the Third District noted that a claimant's failure to comply with the statutory requirements of section 768.57, Florida Statutes (1985), deprived the trial court of jurisdiction in that case, and it thus issued a "writ of prohibition" remanding the case back to the trial court for dismissal. *Id.* at 1015. To the extent that this court believes that "prohibition" is the appropriate remedy in this sort of case, the Petitioner would respectfully request that it be considered as an alternative remedy here.

settlement. Once the claimant's investigation is complete, §766.106(2) requires that the claimant serve all potential defendants with a notice of intent to initiate litigation. It is then incumbent upon the potential defendants to evaluate the claim.

#### *Id.* at 411.

As the Court in *Pavolini* notes, once a malpractice defendant is able to evaluate the purported claim, the defendant will have four options, each of which carry its own risks: 1) the defendant may simply *reject* the claim as unfounded; 2) the defendant can make a settlement offer of some type or amount; 3) the defendant may *admit* liability, but submit the amount of the claim to arbitration to determine damages within certain parameters; or 4) may simply make no response at all. *Id.* at 412.

The notice requirements of §766.106(2) are inextricably intertwined into the fabric of the overall statutory scheme, which is *designed* to weed out *meritless* medical malpractice claims - and promote the prompt resolution of *valid* claims. *Id*. Through the Act, the Legislature expressed its intent to "provide a plan for prompt resolution of medical negligence claims," and the plan consists "of two separate components - a pre-suit "investigation" and "arbitration." Fla. Stat. §766.201(2) (1997). While participating in the arbitration component of the Act is voluntary, the Pre-suit investigation is *mandatory*. Thus, the notice requirements of §766.106(2) cannot be considered in isolation, because they are directly related to the pre-suit investigation requirements contained in §766.203.

The requirements of a pre-suit investigation appear to apply to "all medical negligence" claims and defenses. Fla. Stat. §766.203(1) (1999). The pre-suit investigation portion of the statute requires that:

[p]rior to issuing notification of intent to initiate medical malpractice litigation pursuant to §766.106, the claimant shall conduct an investigation to ascertain that there are reasonable grounds to believe that: (a) [a]ny named defendant in the litigation was negligent in the care and treatment of the claimant; and (b), [s]uch negligence resulted in injury to the claimant."

§ 766.203(2)(a),(b), Fla. Stat. (1999).

A claimant under Chapter 766 is defined as "any person who has a cause of action arising from medical negligence." Fla. Stat. §766.202(1) (1999). Section 766.104(1) provides that "[n]o action shall be filed for personal injury or wrongful death arising out of medical negligence, whether in tort or contract, unless the attorney filing the action has made a reasonable investigation as permitted by the circumstances to determine that there are grounds for good faith belief that there has been negligence in the care or treatment of the claimant. The complaint or initial pleading shall contain a certificate of counsel certifying that such reasonable investigation gave rise to a good faith belief that grounds exist for an action against each named defendant." *Id.* 

A. A Nursing Home Facility Should be Entitled to the Protections of the Pre-Suit Notice Requirements of the Medical Malpractice Statute if the Allegations in the Complaint Seek

# to Hold the Facility Vicariously Liable for the Medical Malpractice of its Employees or Agents

The Respondent here has maintained that she should not be required to comply with Chapter 766, simply because "nursing homes" are not specifically defined as "health care providers" under §766.102. (A. 6). This argument has been considered and rejected by several different courts, including this Court, and the Second District Court of Appeal - the Court from which this Petition has arisen. *See, e.g., NME Properties, Inc. v. McCullough,* 590 So. 2d 439, 441 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1991); *Pinellas Emergency Mental Health Services, Inc. v. Richardson,* 532 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1988); *Linkemar v. Health Care & Retirement Corp. of America,* 1999 WL 984428 (S.D. Fla. 1999). *Cf. Preston v. Health Care Retirement Corp. of America,* 26 Fla. L. Weekly D919 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA, April 4, 2001) and *Redway*.

In *NME*, the Court explained just how a nursing home *could* be entitled to the protections of Chapter 766:

Although a nursing home is not itself a health care provider for purposes of section 766.102, it may be vicariously liable under that higher standard of care for the acts of some of its agents or employees. For

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