IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF FLORIDA

INTEGRATED HEALTH CARE
SERVICES, INC., RIKAD PROPERTIES,
INC., authorized To operate INTEGRATED
HEALTH SERVICES OF ST. PETERSBURG;
BON SECOURS HEALTH SYSTEM, INC.,
BON SECOURS MARIA MANOR NURSING
CENTER a/k/a BON SECOURS MARIA
MANOR NURSING CARE CENTER a/k/a
BON SECOURS MARIA MANOR NURSING
CARE FACILITY,

CASE NO. SC01-792
L.T. Case No. 2D00-2905

Petitioners/Defendants,

v.

The Estate of ALBERT W. REDWAY,
by and Through PAULINE LANG-REDWAY,
Personal Representative,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

AMENDED* RESPONSE TO PETITION TO INVOKE
THE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION
OF THE COURT

SUSAN B. MORRISON, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 394424
Wilkes & McHugh, P.A.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In concluding that Chapter 766 presuit requirements had no application to Redway's Complaint, the Second District issued an opinion which was narrowly drawn, precisely worded, and entirely consistent with existing statutes, rules of statutory construction and applicable decisional law. The sufficiency of the Complaint is to be determined by reference to the presuit screening requirements in section 400.023(4) of the Florida Statutes (1997), and not by reference to sections 766.106 and 766.203(2), where the basis of respondent's claims is deprivation and infringement of Albert Redway's statutory nursing home residents' rights, and not medical malpractice. The presuit requirements of section 400.023(4) differ in form and substance from the medical malpractice presuit requirements.

The nursing home care provided by Petitioner to Mr. Redway was a **mixture of acts** provided by the licensee as well as its nurses, dietitians, therapists, housekeepers, aides and a myriad of other nursing home personnel. To suggest that the Court disregard this mixed use in favor of construing a statutory rights claim to be a disguised medical malpractice claim is farcical and unsupported in fact or law.

Petitioner obviously asserts that Respondent must comply with all aspects of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act presuit requirements, **and must also comply** with nursing home resident's rights and corroborating medical opinion and verification requirements, in order to sustain her residents' rights cause of action

against this Petitioner. Such an interpretation of the various presuit statutes would render one or other statutory scheme to be redundant and superfluous, and would place an onerous burden on an elderly infirm population who are unable, on their own behalf, to protect and assert their rights.

Presuit screening statutes must be construed in a manner that favors access to the courts. Article I, section 21, Florida Constitution ensures Respondent's access to the courts for resolution of legal and equitable disputes. Remedial statutes must be liberally construed so as to "suppress the evil" identified by the legislature and to advance the remedy intended. Presuit statutes, on the other hand, must be narrowly construed to avoid restricting a litigant's right of access to the courts.

Petitioner's reliance on the 2001 amendments to Chapter 400 to support its argument that Chapter 766 presuit requirements applied to a claim which arose in 1998 is wholly without merit, because the 2001 legislative amendments to Chapter 400 **actually support** the Second District's holding in *Redway* that Chapter 766 presuit requirements **do not apply** to nursing home residents rights claims brought pursuant to section 400.023(4). The "clarification" made by the 2001 Florida Legislature, which is entirely consistent with the *Redway* opinion, is the legislative pronouncement found at in the last sentence of section 400.023, Chapter 01-45, Laws of Florida (2001) which states,

“The provisions of chapter 766 do not apply to any cause of action brought under sections 400.023-400.0238.” (*emphasis added*)

This Court should decline to exercise discretionary review or should alternatively answer the certified question in the negative and approve the Second District's opinion in *Redway*.

ARGUMENT

I. A PLAINTIFF WHO FILES A LAWSUIT SEEKING TO ENFORCE ONLY THOSE RIGHTS ENUMERATED IN § 400.022, FLORIDA STATUTES, NEED NOT COMPLY WITH THE PRESUIT CONDITIONS IN SECTION 766.106.

The question certified by the Second District for review by this Court is a narrow one, which, stated simply, inquires whether the presuit requirements of section 766.106 are incorporated by implication into a cause of action brought pursuant to section 400.023(4). The question is narrow because the *Redway* Court denied the writ of certiorari by holding that

“a plaintiff who chooses to allege only a statutory claim under section 400.022 and does not also allege a common law claim for medical negligence is not required to comply with the presuit requirements of section 766.016, Florida Statutes (1997). Although there may be some overlap between the statutory right” to “receive adequate and appropriate health care” and the common law claim for medical negligence, we conclude that the presuit requirements of Chapter 766 must narrowly construed to apply only to common law medical negligence claims and not to the separate statutory rights created by chapter 400. Compare section 400.022(1)(1), Fla. Stat. (1997), with section 766.102(1) Fla. Stat. (1997) if the legislature wishes to establish additional presuit requirements for nursing home claims under section 400.022(1)(1), it must create a procedure that expressly applies to these statutory claims.

Integrated Health Care Services, Inc. et al vs. Pauline Lang-Redway, Second District Case No. 2D00-2905, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D699 (March 9, 2001).

The Second District, in reviewing the trial court's order denying Defendant's motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to comply with presuit requirements, considered the allegations of the Complaint, and acknowledged that in addition to the statutory claims brought under section 400.023(4), Redway's complaint also,

"includes a claim for wrongful death and, in the alternative, a claim for damages if the Defendant's negligence did not cause Mr. Redway's death. However, both claims are based upon a violation of a statutory right instead of a common law right." (supp. at Tab 1, p.3). The Second District noted that the complaint alleged that Mr. Redway failed to receive adequate and appropriate health care in violation of section 400.022(1)(l), but that "the plaintiff does not allege any common law theory attempting to make the Defendants vicariously liable for breach of a professional standard of care by a health care provider."

The Second District was not convinced by Petitioner's argument in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari that Redway's Complaint was really a disguised claim for vicariously liability of the Nursing Home for the medical malpractice acts of its nurses. The Second District acknowledged that "there may be some overlap between the statutory right to "receive adequate and appropriate health care" and the common law claim for medical negligence," and the Second District nevertheless concluded that because the district court was bound to narrowly construe Chapter 766, and because Redway's Complaint was not a complaint framed in terms of vicarious liability for independent acts of medical negligence, Chapter 766's presuit requirements simply did not apply.

The Redway Court gave four reasons for its denial of the writ. First, the Second District concluded that because of the **mixture of acts and services** which a nursing home provides, any attempt to extract the medical care and services aspect of a nursing home resident's claim for deprivation of his right to receive adequate and appropriate health care would seem largely unworkable. The court further explained

that Chapter 766, when read in its entirety, does not suggest that the Florida Legislature intended to intertwine Chapter 766 presuit requirements with the "similar, but separate rights and requirements in Chapter 400."

Second, the *Redway* Court cited to the Florida Legislature's 1993 enactment of section 400.023(4), wherein the legislature "created a separate presuit investigatory requirement for cases under Chapter 400." The court also noted that the 1993 amendment was enacted in the same year that this Court decided *Weinstock v. Groth*, 629 So. 2d 835(Fla. 1993). Third, the Second District noted that the 1993 amendment "now contains significant restrictions upon the claimant's ability to allege vicarious liability for the actions of a health care provider," and since the statute exculpates nursing homes for liability for medical negligence of any physician other than the nursing home's own medical director.

Finally, the Second District acknowledged that the presuit requirements of Chapter 766 must be strictly and narrowly construed since "presuit conditions restrict a party's access to Florida's courts and limit pre-existing common law rights." The Second District concluded that *Redway* had complied with "the only presuit conditions expressly mandated by the legislature for this lawsuit," and thus opined that "[t]he trial court did not depart from the essential requirements of the law."

In concluding that Chapter 766 presuit requirements had no application to *Redway's* complaint, the Second District issued an opinion which was narrowly

drawn, precisely worded, and entirely consistent with existing statutes, rules of statutory construction and applicable decisional law.

The Second District has denied two similar petitions for certiorari writs based upon its holding in *Redway*. See, *National Healthcare Corp. v. Lowe*, 2001 Fla. App. LEXIS 6301; (March 30, 2001) and, *Health Care and Retirement Corporation of America v. Peel*, 2001 Fla. App. LEXIS 5577 (April 27, 2001). *Redway* has also been followed by the Fourth District in *Preston v. Health Care and Retirement Corporation of America*, 785 So.2d 570 (4th DCA 2001). This Court, in recognizing the soundness of the Second District's reasoning and holding, should decline to review the question certified, or alternatively, should answer the question in the affirmative, since to do so would be to act consistent with rules of statutory construction, legislative intent and binding legal precedent.

- A. THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE COMPLAINT IS TO BE DETERMINED BY REFERENCE TO THE PRESUIT SCREENING REQUIREMENTS IN § 400.023(4), FLORIDA STATUTES, AND NOT BY REFERENCE TO §§ 766.106 AND 766.203(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, WHERE THE BASIS OF RESPONDENT'S CLAIMS IS DEPRIVATION AND INFRINGEMENT OF ALBERT REDWAY'S STATUTORY NURSING HOME RESIDENTS' RIGHTS AND NOT MEDICAL MALPRACTICE.

It is without dispute that by the Complaint, Respondent claims damages occasioned by Petitioners' deprivation of Albert Redway's rights as a nursing home resident. It is likewise without dispute that Respondent's claims arise from the private

cause of action for deprivation or infringement of a nursing home resident's rights contained in § 400.023, Florida Statutes.

Due to strong public policy concerns for protecting elderly state residents who are no longer capable of protecting or caring for themselves, the Florida Legislature, in enacting Chapter 400, deemed it necessary to incorporate its intent and findings with regard to long-term care facilities and their residents within the statute:

The Legislature finds that conditions in long-term care facilities in this state are such that the rights, health, safety, and welfare of residents are not ensured by rules of the Department of Elderly Affairs or the Agency for Healthcare Administration, or by the good faith of owners or operators of long-term care facilities. Furthermore, there is a need for a formal mechanism whereby a long-term care facility resident or his or her representative may make a complaint against the facility or its employees, or against other persons who are in a position to restrict, interfere with, or threaten the rights, health, safety, or welfare of the resident. It is the further intent of the Legislature that the environment in long-term care facilities shall be conducive to the dignity and independence of residents and that investigations by ombudsman councils shall further the enforcement of laws, rules, and regulations that safeguard the health, safety and welfare of residents.

The Legislature furthered its intent by establishing an Office of State Long-term Care Ombudsman, and authorizing said office to act as the legal advocate of nursing

home residents throughout the state. In addition, in 1986, the Legislature created an independent private cause of action for civil enforcement of nursing home resident rights, which is codified in section 400.023 of the Florida Statutes. This statute affords any resident whose resident rights have been deprived or infringed upon the right to bring a private cause of action against any licensee responsible for the infringement or deprivation. Because the nursing home residents' rights in section 400.022 includes "[t]he right to receive adequate and appropriate health care and protective and support services" (*emphasis added*), the 1993 Florida Legislature, included a provision to protect health care providers from having to defend frivolous residents' rights health care claims. The legislature amended section 400.023 to add subparagraph (4), which requires that any claimant "alleging a deprivation or infringement of adequate and appropriate health care pursuant to section 400.022(1)(k)"² which resulted in personal injury to or the death of a resident "shall conduct an investigation which shall include a review by a licensed physician or

² See footnote 2 to section 400.023, which clarifies that "[t]he cite to section 400.022(1)(k) may be intended to reference section 400.022(1)(l)." The right to adequate and appropriate health care is provided in section 400.022(1)(l). Paragraph (1)(k) covers the right to refuse medications or treatment. The right to adequate and appropriate health care was provided in section 400.022(1)(g) prior to the 1993 regular session of the Legislature. In the 1993 session, C.S. for C.S. for H.B. 2203 amended both section 400.022 and 400.023. The bill moved the language in section 400.022(1)(g) to paragraph (1)(k). House Amendment 8 to C.S. for C.S. for H.B. 2303 amended section 400.023, adding subsection (4) referencing "[c]laimants alleging a deprivation or infringement of adequate and appropriate health care pursuant to section 400.022(1)(g)" and Amendment 1 to Amendment 8 corrected the reference to "400.022(1)(k)." See, Journal of the House of Representatives 1993, pp. 849-850. Later in the process, Senate Amendment 1 added a new paragraph (1)(k) to section 400.022 (*see* Journal of the Senate 1993, p. 1017); the reference to section 400.022(1)(k) in section 400.023(4) was not updated to conform.

registered nurse familiar with the standard of nursing care for nursing home residents pursuant to this part.”

The intent of the presuit requirements in section 400.023(4) is to require a claimant to conduct discovery in order to support her claims of deprivations or infringements of adequate and appropriate health care. Section 400.023(4) further requires the claimant to obtain a verified medical expert opinion that there exists reason to believe that a deprivation or infringement of the resident’s rights to adequate health care occurred during the period of residency. The obvious purpose of such a presuit screening requirement in section 400.023(4), like that of section 766.203(2), is to obtain corroborating medical opinions as to the legitimacy of the personal injury claim, so as to avoid subjecting nursing home Defendants to frivolous lawsuits. *See, Ft. Walton Beach Medical Center, Inc. v. Dingler*, 697 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (presuit procedures designed to prevent filing of baseless litigation). *See also, Davis v. Orlando Regional Medical Center*, 654 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (where court held that the purpose of a section 766.106 corroborating medical opinion is to verify the legitimacy of the medical negligence claim, and not to put Defendants on notice of each and every specific incident of negligence).

1. The Presuit Requirements Of Section 400.023(4) Differ In Form And Substance From The Medical Malpractice Presuit Requirements.

While Respondent certainly recognizes the similarities of the presuit corroborating medical opinion under section 766.203(2) and the presuit opinion

required by section 400.023(4), she is also mindful of their distinct differences. Respondent asserts that the statutes are by no means interchangeable, as they contain some substantial and significant variations in both procedure and application. First, and most importantly, the Chapter 766 presuit procedures apply to medical negligence claims brought against a health care provider pursuant to section 766.102 for death or injury resulting from the negligence of a health care provider.

Unlike the nursing home resident's rights corroboration of injury requirements, the medical malpractice statute requires the claimant to provide **written notice** to all potential malpractice Defendants of its intent to file suit upon the completion of claimant's presuit investigation pursuant to section 766.203, which notice must be sent at least ninety (90) days prior to the filing of a lawsuit. See, section 766.106 of the Florida Statutes. Third, unlike nursing home resident's rights litigants, medical malpractice act litigants must submit to voluntary binding arbitration pursuant to section 766.207.³

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